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          1  COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning. My

          3  name is Leroy Comrie. I chair the Committee on

          4  Rules, Privileges and Elections. I'd like to call

          5  the meeting to order.

          6                 I'll introduce the members of the

          7  Committee who are here. I just want to apologize to

          8  the candidates for the late start. As you can hear,

          9  there is a Finance meeting going on, we had two

         10  other meetings going on, and two meetings that are

         11  going to happen right after this one. So, our

         12  schedule is a bit hectic, as usual on a Stated

         13  Council day.

         14                 With us we have Council Member

         15  Madeline Provenzano from the Bronx and Council

         16  Member Yvette Clarke from Brooklyn. And I'm not

         17  missing anybody.

         18                 We know that Councilman Perkins,

         19  Provenzano, Quinn, Rivera, Reyna, Baez, Clarke,

         20  Fidler, Katz, Weprin, Oddo and Miller are all here,

         21  but most of them are in the other room.

         22                 Today we have four people that are

         23  being reappointed to two different areas.

         24                 Before us today is one candidate for

         25  reappointment, the Board of Elections, from the
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          2  Bronx. He is Mr. Nero Graham, Jr., a Democratic

          3  Commissioner from the Bronx County, who is being

          4  considered for reappointment to a new four-year term

          5  beginning January 1st, 2005, and ending December

          6  31st, 2008.

          7                 There are also three Mayoral

          8  candidates for reappointment to the New York City

          9  Board of Health. They are Pamela Sara Brier, Dr.

         10  Sixto Ramon Caro, and Dr. David Vlahov. Each of

         11  these individuals is eligible to serve for the

         12  remainder of a six-year term, that will expire on

         13  May 31st, 2010.

         14                 We're going to start with Mr. Graham.

         15  Welcome. If you could raise your right hand and be

         16  sworn in, please.

         17                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

         18  or affirm that the testimony you're about to give

         19  the Committee is the truth and the whole truth?

         20                 MR. GRAHAM: I do.

         21                 MR. O'MALLEY: Please state your name

         22  for the record.

         23                 MR. GRAHAM: I'm Nero Graham, Jr.

         24                 MR. O'MALLEY: Thank you. This witness

         25  is sworn.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Just for the

          3  record, the Board of Elections consists of ten

          4  Commissioners, two of each from the City's five

          5  counties are directly appointed by the New York City

          6  Council. Not more than two commissioners shall be

          7  registered voters of the same county. Each

          8  commissioner serves a term of four years, or until a

          9  successor is appointed. Commissioners shall be

         10  registered voters from each of the major parties in

         11  the county for which they are appointed.

         12                 The Board and its commissioners are

         13  responsible for the maintenance and administration

         14  of voting records and elections.

         15                 The Board also exercises quasi

         16  judicial powers by conducting hearings to validate

         17  nominating petitions of candidates for nomination to

         18  elected office.

         19                 The Board is required to make an

         20  annual report of its affairs and proceedings to the

         21  New York City Council, once every 12 months, no

         22  later than the last day of January in any year.

         23                 Good morning, Mr. Graham. Do you have

         24  an opening statement you would like to give?

         25                 MR. GRAHAM: Yes. Good morning. I just
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          2  would like to thank the Chair and your Committee

          3  members for inviting me and considering me for the

          4  reappointment for the Commissioner for the Board of

          5  Election.

          6                 I would just like to say, is that

          7  since July of 2001 when I was appointed, in my first

          8  time on board, of the commissioner for the Board of

          9  Elections, is that I learned a lot and I came a long

         10  ways, and I learned about the transitions that we

         11  look forward to move in the future, with new

         12  technology and things that we need to serve the

         13  public much better than we're doing now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         15                 Any questions for Mr. Graham from

         16  anyone, other than myself at the moment?

         17                 We've been joined by Council Member

         18  Maria Baez.

         19                 Yes, Council Member Clarke.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair. And I want to welcome Mr. Graham.

         22                 MR. GRAHAM: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And thank you

         24  for your service to our City. I was just listening

         25  to your opening statement, you mentioned that your
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          2  anticipation of the new technologies and you made

          3  reference to being able to serve better. You know --

          4                 MR. GRAHAM: That's correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: -- Be able to

          6  serve the community better.

          7                 How would you rate the way that we're

          8  serving the community now, through the Board of

          9  Elections? And what do you think that we should be

         10  doing in the interim in anticipation of the new

         11  technologies?

         12                 MR. GRAHAM: With the funding and the

         13  resources that we have now with the Board of

         14  Elections, I can tell you, with the 318 employees,

         15  full-time employees that we have, to take on these

         16  tasks and the primaries in the general elections, I

         17  will rate it as we're doing good with what we have.

         18                 And the other question? What was your

         19  other question?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: The other

         21  question is, what do you think we can be doing? And

         22  I'm glad to hear that you feel that we're doing

         23  good. But certainly with that many employees and the

         24  type of advances that we're talking about making,

         25  there's going to be a challenge. Bringing everyone
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          2  up to speed, it's like almost going from a

          3  two-wheeler, a bicycle, to, you know, a motor cycle.

          4                 MR. GRAHAM: You're correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So, what do

          6  you see is recommendations that should be done in

          7  the interim, in anticipation of that?

          8                 MR. GRAHAM: In the interim what we

          9  need to do, we definitely need to enhance our

         10  system, our computer databased system. We need to be

         11  able to communicate with the public, where they're

         12  bilinguals, and to kind of like to educate them more

         13  in the voter registrive (sic). Internally we can do

         14  that. And we're doing that, but I say, too, is that

         15  we could be more aggressive in doing it by reaching

         16  all the corners and pockets within the City of New

         17  York, and also with the help of your colleagues in

         18  the community and civic groups internally is that we

         19  do it annually and continue to do it 365 days a year

         20  to reach the public, to kind of like improve and a

         21  better relationship with the Board of Election of

         22  the election process.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Graham, what

         24  do you think is the biggest obstacle for the board

         25  in accomplishing that goal which you just stated
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          2  about reaching out to all corners of the community?

          3                 MR. GRAHAM: The biggest obstacle is

          4  funding. Funding that the Board of Election need,

          5  and our Executive Director some months ago was

          6  before the body of the City Council, and also before

          7  it Albany stating that we need funding in order to

          8  get the resources we need to move forward. And those

          9  resources and equipment that we needed is to upgrade

         10  our technology, like the phone bank system. Bringing

         11  on more professional people to run the data process

         12  and business of it. The funding will also help us to

         13  educate our 318 staff members, and you're talking

         14  about 30,000 plus voter reg workers each election,

         15  and then next you've got the general population,

         16  those that vote, 4 million plus in the City of New

         17  York. So, we need funding. Funding is definitely

         18  what we need to move forward.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm not sure that

         20  you're aware, but it was discovered the other day

         21  that OMB has been sitting on a substantial pile of

         22  money for the Board of Elections for update on their

         23  internal equipment. I believe it was --

         24                 MR. GRAHAM: Twenty-seven mil I think.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Twenty-seven
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          2  million dollars. So you are aware of it?

          3                 MR. GRAHAM: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Will the Board be

          5  addressing how to utilize that in a public forum?

          6                 MR. GRAHAM: Yes, we will. And thanks

          7  to the Executive Directors and the nine

          8  Commissioners, we're definitely in process of doing

          9  that, looking to see when we can move forward to tap

         10  in those resources.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Have you got an

         12  idea on what your computer upgrade cost would be?

         13                 MR. GRAHAM: I don't have the figure

         14  at the present time. You're talking about lots of

         15  money.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: For the internal

         17  computers in the Board of Elections.

         18                 MR. GRAHAM: Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         20                 And, have you attended or worked with

         21  the State Legislators to try to help them come along

         22  with their request to come up with a final

         23  resolution for the selection of electronic voter

         24  assistance programs?

         25                 MR. GRAHAM: Yes.
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          2                 To my understanding, I think since

          3  2002 we've been traveling to Albany and we've been

          4  campaigning. And I've been very vocal in speaking

          5  for the new technology that where we need to go, and

          6  we need to do it quickly. We're talking about we're

          7  mandated and the primary in 2006, and we supposed to

          8  have I think under the federal law, is to have some

          9  of that new technology out there, if not all, at the

         10  rate Albany is going I can see now it's going to be

         11  a tedious task to accomplish that goal. But leave it

         12  up to the Board of Election, we probably will.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you think

         14  it's achievable, even if you don't get the final

         15  okay until the end of 2005?

         16                 MR. GRAHAM: You know, we're going to

         17  have some rough roads, but the Board of Election

         18  really can put things together on this.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. You have a

         20  lot of faith in your employees.

         21                 MR. GRAHAM: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Great.

         23                 Any other questions for Mr. Graham?

         24                 Seeing none, then we'll move on.

         25  Thank you for coming this morning.
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          2                 MR. GRAHAM: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We'll move on.

          4  We'll get to the vote in a few minutes, Mr. Graham.

          5  You can stay if you'd like, but I understand we're

          6  running late, so if you have to go, thank you very

          7  much for coming, and thank you for deciding to

          8  continue to serve the City on the Board of

          9  Elections.

         10                 Next we will go to the three Board of

         11  Health candidates. Can you raise your right hands to

         12  be sworn in, the three candidates?

         13                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

         14  or affirm the testimony you're about to give the

         15  Committee is the truth and the whole truth?

         16                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         17                 MR. O'MALLEY: Please individually

         18  state your names for the record.

         19                 DR. VLAHOV: David Vlahov.

         20                 DR. CARO: Sixto Caro.

         21                 MS. BRIER: Pamela Brier.

         22                 MR. O'MALLEY: Thank you. The

         23  witnesses are sworn.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

         25  by Councilwoman Diana Reyna, Councilman Simcha
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          2  Felder, Council Member Maria Baez, and Council

          3  Member Melinda Katz.

          4                 The Board of Health is part of the

          5  New York City Department of Health and Mental

          6  Hygiene. The Board's Chairperson is Commissioner of

          7  the Department. The main function of the Board is to

          8  promulgate the New York City Health Code, which

          9  encompasses any matter within the jurisdiction of

         10  the Department.

         11                 The Department has the jurisdiction

         12  to regulate all matters affecting health in the

         13  City, including but not limited to mental health,

         14  mental retardation, alcoholism and substance abuse,

         15  related needs of City residents.

         16                 The scope of the Department's

         17  jurisdiction includes such diverse disciplines as

         18  communicable diseases, environmental health

         19  services, radiological health, food, safety,

         20  veterinary affairs, water quality, pest control and

         21  vital statistics.

         22                 New emerging pathogens and biological

         23  warfare on the most recent additions to the

         24  Department's roster of concerns.

         25                 The Board is also charged with
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          2  certain administrative responsibilities, such as the

          3  issuance, suspension or revocation of permits.

          4  Example, food vendor permits.

          5                 The Board may declare a state of

          6  great imminent peril and take appropriate steps

          7  subject to Mayoral approval and declare certain

          8  conditions as nuisances and order that such

          9  conditions be abated or otherwise corrected.

         10                 Besides a Chairperson, the Board

         11  consists of ten members, five of whom should be

         12  doctors of medicine who must have at least ten

         13  years' experience in any or all of the following:

         14  Clinical medicine, neurology, psychiatry, public

         15  health administration, or college, or university

         16  public health teaching. The other five members need

         17  not be physicians, but shall hold at least a

         18  master's degree in either environmental, biological,

         19  veterinary, physical or behavioral health or science

         20  or rehabilitative science in a related field with at

         21  least ten years experience in their respective

         22  fields.

         23                 The Chairperson of the Mental Hygiene

         24  Advisory Board is required to be one of the ten

         25  Board members provided that such individual meets
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          2  the requirements for Board membership.

          3                 The nine Board members, other than

          4  the Chairperson and the member who shall be the

          5  Chairperson of the Mental Hygiene Advisory Board

          6  serve without compensation, and are appointed by the

          7  Mayor for a term of six years.

          8                 Ms. Brier, Dr. Caro and Dr. Vlahov,

          9  do either one of you wish to make an opening

         10  statement? And before you do, I just want to

         11  acknowledge and thank Mr. Wilfredo Lopez, the

         12  Counsel, for coming, and I'm sure he's here to

         13  protect the interest of your Board members, but I

         14  want to thank you for coming anyway.

         15                 Opening statements. I'll let you

         16  choose who is first.

         17                 MS. BRIER: I'll start.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         19                 MS. BRIER: It's a privilege to be a

         20  member of the City's Board of Health. I've spent

         21  almost 20 years in public service, and I do think of

         22  myself still doing public service, even though I'm

         23  not a government employee.

         24                 The issues in health care are very

         25  critical at this point, from the very basic to the
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          2  very technological, and I think one of the things

          3  I've been able to bring to this Board is from the

          4  human health care perspective, I see lots of folks

          5  in the hospital that I run, and we face all of these

          6  things that the entire City faces. I think this

          7  Health Commissioner is terrific. I think he is very

          8  smart, and very energetic and I think the City is

          9  well served by what he does. And I appreciate the

         10  opportunity to be here this morning.

         11                 DR. CARO: I am Dr. Sixto Caro, and I

         12  have been in clinical practice for almost 25 years,

         13  mostly in Brooklyn, and it was, I say it was, an

         14  underserved area, but now it's coming along with

         15  hope, and through many of your decisions of the City

         16  Council.

         17                 But I am really proud to be helping

         18  the Board of Health in our decision. Because one

         19  important issue is, it's a privilege to be

         20  surrounded by academic colleagues like Dr. Vlahov

         21  and like Pam, but I think somebody in the trenches

         22  that is seeing patients every day for 35 years also

         23  has a good role in the Board to give a little bit of

         24  reality what is going on in the streets. And that's

         25  my opening statement to all of you to consider about
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          2  myself.

          3                 DR. VLAHOV: I'm David Vlahov, and

          4  it's both an honor and a privilege to be here, and

          5  to be considered for reappointment.

          6                 My background is over 20 years in

          7  public health, and I have a specialty in terms of

          8  epidemiology biostatistics, infectious diseases and

          9  mental health, including substance abuse.

         10                 So, these are a number of issues on

         11  which I believe I can lend my expertise, and it is

         12  particularly rewarding to be on the Board of Health,

         13  to serve in a voluntary capacity to improve the

         14  public health of New York overall.

         15                 It is also an honor to serve with

         16  experts in other areas and to be able to deal with a

         17  number of issues that affect each of the communities

         18  throughout New York.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. We'll

         20  start with questions from the members, Simcha

         21  Felder, Margarita Lopez and Madeline Provenzano, and

         22  Yvette Clarke.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         24  much, Mr. Chair. I'm going to have to excuse myself

         25  to go back to Finance. I just wanted to make a
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          2  comment, not a question, on Pamela Brier's

          3  appointment.

          4                 I read through some of the notes and

          5  the "Red Book" we call it, about the conflicts of

          6  interest, the issue that was filed and resolved with

          7  certain conditions. I just wanted to mention that

          8  the conflict of interest with regard to her serving

          9  at the Department of Health and being, taking care

         10  of Maimonides Hospital, was never resolved, the

         11  other way. The conflict of interest the other way.

         12                 The question of your being able to

         13  serve on the Department of Health, as well as taking

         14  care of an institution in the community at the same

         15  time, that question never came up because that's not

         16  really our responsibility. I wanted to share with my

         17  colleagues that that's no problem as well. That Ms.

         18  Brier has been taking care of Maimonides Hospital

         19  extraordinarily well and in a responsible way and is

         20  always available. So, not only is there no problem

         21  in terms of the City, we're delighted with the fact

         22  that she's able to serve at Maimonides Hospital,

         23  which has been serving the City very, very well for

         24  a very long time.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you for

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  being here. I welcome your presentation today.

          3                 I have a couple of questions that I

          4  need to ask you, based on serious responsibility

          5  that I carry, in my opinion, in this body as the

          6  Chair of the Committee on Mental Health, Mental

          7  Retardation, Alcoholism, Substance Abuse and

          8  Disability Services.

          9                 When the merger of this Department of

         10  Health occurred with mental health, certain mandates

         11  were put in place. One of them is that a study had

         12  to happen at the end of the two years, and that that

         13  study had to reflect what are the consequences of

         14  that merger, and how the merger had been affected.

         15  What are the result of the merger one way or

         16  another?

         17                 Had you received a copy of this

         18  study?

         19                 MS. BRIER: If I could answer, because

         20  I certainly share your concern about mental health

         21  services and have spent many years of my life

         22  working in that area. I think it's important to note

         23  that that action was taken by the previous

         24  administration. It was undertaken previously, and

         25  the Board of Health is not like the Board of the
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          2  Health and Hospitals Corporation. We don't really,

          3  Councilwoman, we don't really have authority or any

          4  purview over the operations, if you will, of the

          5  Department.

          6                 So, there really is no reason, other

          7  than if one is an interested public servant, I have

          8  actually read that and have followed that quite

          9  closely, but it's really in my role as a public

         10  citizen interested in health care, it really is

         11  outside of our role as Board members.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then that's the

         13  problem, if that's the case.

         14                 MS. BRIER: That's the law, I'm

         15  afraid. That's what the law says.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then we need to

         17  fix the law. Because if the Department has been

         18  merged, and now the overseeing body, and the body in

         19  charge, of policies on mental health will be the

         20  Department of Mental Health and Mental Hygiene, then

         21  the law is inaccurate in regard of the

         22  responsibilities that will have, if that's the case.

         23  But still that doesn't take away the question, the

         24  study that they're supposed to produce and finish,

         25  that study is supposed to be done, and I have not
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          2  seen that study.

          3                 I have been conducing hearings in

          4  this body in regard of that issue and the issue of

          5  the merger. I was waiting for your interview today

          6  here and the appointment that was going to take

          7  place to ask you where the study is, who is in

          8  charge of this study, and if the study has been

          9  done. If it has been done, why have it not been

         10  circulated or make it public.

         11                 MS. BRIER: Right. I'm afraid I hate

         12  it, I never like it when my staff says, you know, it

         13  is not my responsibility. That is a really

         14  unacceptable answer ordinarily, but I've got to tell

         15  you, Councilwoman, that there was no reason for us

         16  to have seen it. I think the issue if very

         17  important, and there is no reason why we ever would

         18  see it. It's never been discussed, and, you know,

         19  the way the law is structured, we are not really the

         20  governing body of the Health Department, the Health

         21  and Mental Hygiene Department.

         22                 There is a member of the Board who is

         23  a member of the community service board, which is

         24  the advisory group that oversees and works with the

         25  Department of Health and now Health and Mental
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          2  Hygiene, and there are various of us with interest

          3  and expertise in mental health services, but there

          4  have been no issues, I mean mind you, I was out for

          5  a year almost, but there have been no issues about

          6  mental health that I can recall coming to this

          7  Board. And I'll speak for my colleagues, if they

          8  don't mind, I'm afraid all of them will give you the

          9  same answer that I did, it is really in a different

         10  sphere.

         11                 I wish we could help you out, but,

         12  you know, we can't.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, then, I

         14  will help out the mental health community and the

         15  Department of Mental Health, because I'm going to

         16  introduce a legislation to fix this problem. If

         17  we're going to have this kind of merger, if the kind

         18  of merger is going to continue and the dollars that

         19  are allocated under the budget, to set policy, and

         20  that's what you are in charge, policy, in many ways,

         21  correct me if I'm wrong, if you oversee the policy

         22  of the health of this City, if that is the case and

         23  you make policy that is affecting the well-being of

         24  the City of New York in regard of New York, and now

         25  that is supposed to include mental health, then I'm
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          2  going to introduce legislation to fix this. That's

          3  one thing that I'm going to do and I'm going to help

          4  you with that.

          5                 The second question I have, and this

          6  is connected, interconnected, is in regard of the

          7  question that Hepatitis C in the jail system is

          8  becoming an epidemic in there. The Department have

          9  no policy stating that this Hepatitis C should be

         10  tested mandatory. It continue to be ignored. This

         11  issue continue to increase, the infection continue

         12  to increase. Communities of color are affected by

         13  Hepatitis C infection in disproportionate way than

         14  any other.

         15                 I have not seen policy coming out to

         16  deal with this, and I want to know if this issue has

         17  been discussed in the Board, with the Board, and

         18  what is the positions that the Board have taken with

         19  regard to this?

         20                 MS. BRIER: Well, again, let me say,

         21  unless it happened while I was out, this has not

         22  been discussed by the Board. I mean, this is a very

         23  important public health issue, and it is, these

         24  issues are largely issues of people of color,

         25  unfortunately. And I absolutely agree with you, as a
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          2  health care professional in the City of New York.

          3                 But, again, I'm afraid, Councilwoman,

          4  that this Board does not have the legal authority to

          5  review public health matters like that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sorry, I have

          7  to interrupt.

          8                 MS. BRIER: Do we?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, you do.

         10                 MS. BRIER: And I'm missing that?

         11  Okay, hang on.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes. And maybe

         13  that hadn't been made clear to you since your Board

         14  was expanded but according to Section 558 of the

         15  Charter, the main function of your Board is to

         16  promulgate the New York City Health Code.

         17                 MS. BRIER: Right. Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Which can

         19  encompass any matter within the jurisdiction of the

         20  Department.

         21                 MS. BRIER: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Which has the

         23  force and effect of --

         24                 MS. BRIER: Right, I see that.

         25                 Well, I'll tell you what --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I would have to

          3  agree with Council Member Lopez that, you know,

          4  maybe -- the counsel wants to speak.

          5                 MS. BRIER: Yes, I was going to say

          6  this is an important issue, Councilwoman, and I

          7  think all of us on this Board are glad to raise the

          8  issue with the Commissioner. We will do that at our

          9  next Board meeting, if not before, and see what is

         10  going on and what the plans are, and I thank you for

         11  raising the issue, okay?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Lopez, do you

         13  want to put a point of information?

         14                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, I would like to

         15  clarify that. While it's true the language of the

         16  Charter is very broad, it does go on to say that the

         17  Health Code can encompass anything, as long as it's

         18  not inconsistent with the State Constitution, State

         19  laws or the City Charter, and one of the areas where

         20  there is an inconsistency is that it's not the Board

         21  of Health that regulates hospitals or the practice

         22  of medicine. Those are governed by State laws. And,

         23  so, it's not within the jurisdiction of the Board to

         24  regulate the practice of medicine, for example, with

         25  regards to the Hepatitis infecting --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But my question

          3  is not about the practice of medicine. My question

          4  is simply about policy that deal with fundamental

          5  issues that I ask. One, if the merger of the Mental

          6  Health Department, and the Department of Health

          7  occur, and now we have the Health and Mental Hygiene

          8  Department in place, who is overseeing policy

          9  speaking, and who is implementing policy here in

         10  regard of the mental health side.

         11                 One of the things that happened when

         12  this merger occurred, I want to call your attention

         13  to it, was the fear of the community that the mental

         14  health side would be defunded.

         15                 MS. BRIER: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That policies

         17  pertaining to mental health will not be taken care.

         18                 Right now I'll give you an example.

         19  Mentally ill people are being mistreated inside of

         20  the jail system, number one. And number two, they

         21  are not receiving the necessary services necessary

         22  in the mental health services, because now

         23  psychiatric institutions are called temporary jail

         24  in the jail system instead of the mental health

         25  services that are supposed to be in place for them.
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          2                 That is a policy issue. That is not

          3  anything else. It's not practitioners being told

          4  what to do. Policy is what I'm asking.

          5                 MR. LOPEZ: But Ms. Brier --

          6                 MS. BRIER: Well, let me, if I could,

          7  do you mind?

          8                 Go ahead, then. And then I'll answer.

          9                 MR. LOPEZ: I just wanted to reiterate

         10  Ms. Brier's point that the Board of Health is not a

         11  Board of Directors of the Department. It does not

         12  set the policy of the Department. The Board's

         13  authority is specific in the Charter, as mentioned

         14  in the introductory documents, and as is very clear

         15  in your briefing document that it's to promulgate

         16  the Health Code, deal with issues, administrative

         17  issues, such as the issuance and revocations of

         18  permits, but it is not a Board of Directors of the

         19  Department, and that's a fundamental point that

         20  constricts its authority.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then I need

         22  clarification from our lawyers in our side because I

         23  have a total different view of what you're talking

         24  about.

         25                 MR. LOPEZ: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And then who

          3  oversee policy and health policy in this City. Who

          4  is it that promulgate that?

          5                 My understanding is that under the

          6  Charter you are the only body that exists with the

          7  power, that's my understanding.

          8                 MR. LOPEZ: Well, it's not my

          9  understanding.

         10                 And with regard to the report, let me

         11  also point out that your briefing document makes it

         12  clear that the Charter provision, it's a requirement

         13  on the Mayor's Office of Operations to generate that

         14  report. It's not the Board of Health.

         15                 MS. BRIER: Nonetheless, if I could

         16  just add, Councilwoman, I am actually personally a

         17  long-time -- I have a long-time interest in prison

         18  health, and as I said, in mental health services and

         19  when I was running Bellevue we spent a lot of time

         20  working on prisoner issues, and you know that

         21  prisoner medical and mental health services were for

         22  awhile under the Health and Hospitals Corporation,

         23  and now I believe they have been moved back to the

         24  Health Department.

         25                 While I do believe that the legal
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          2  interpretation is what I said before, and obviously

          3  what Mr. Lopez said, nonetheless, we're all

          4  responsible concerned people in the area of public

          5  health and we will take up the issue with the

          6  Commissioner, and ask him, this is more in our role

          7  as public citizens, as opposed to Board members, and

          8  find out, and I'm sure in a subsequent hearing, if

          9  you convene one, the Health Commissioner will come

         10  and answer your questions. I think they're important

         11  issues.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         13                 Mr. Chairman, I think that this issue

         14  had not been really answered in a way that is

         15  satisfactory for the Council, not due to any of the

         16  individuals who are testifying in front of us here

         17  today, but based on a serious confusion, at least, I

         18  have about what are the parameters of this Board,

         19  and I think that we should look at it very

         20  carefully, and figure out how we're going to deal

         21  with this problem, because right now, I mean I have

         22  had hearings, Mr. Chairman, in regard to figuring

         23  out who is in charge of monitoring the merger of the

         24  two Departments. I have got nowhere.

         25                 I continue to look into it, and I am
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          2  growingly being very -- I am not happy about the

          3  answers that I'm being given from all angles, in

          4  regard to this, the merger, who is in charge, who is

          5  overseeing and who is monitoring and the mental

          6  health side of mental services in the City of New

          7  York is not being abandoned and let go and not taken

          8  care.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I agree with you,

         10  Council member. And I think that the service

         11  delivery issue, and the ability of this Board to

         12  encompass issues really needs to be dealt with.

         13                 In the interest of time, and this is

         14  not reflecting on the candidates, this is just

         15  something that we think we need to deal with as a

         16  body to empower you with the power that we think you

         17  should have, that clearly somebody is not informing

         18  you of, and that's a debate that we're going to have

         19  to work on quickly.

         20                 In the interest of time, Council

         21  Member Provenzano.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair. But I would like to follow up on Council

         24  Member Lopez. I think as long as we have Mr. Lopez

         25  here, you're the Council to the --
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          2                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: You know,

          4  it just seems as we're talking about this that

          5  mental health and mental hygiene has fallen off the

          6  radar screen. And I think that's a travesty, and,

          7  again, we're not laying this on the three of you

          8  since your reappointments, but I think now that we

          9  have brought this up before the three of you, we are

         10  making it your responsibility, more or less, to

         11  follow through on this.

         12                 MS. BRIER: Absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I'd also

         14  like to follow through, Mr. Lopez, I don't know if

         15  you read this whole briefing document, but if you

         16  turn over to page four, it continues to say that the

         17  Department has jurisdiction to regulate all matters

         18  affecting health in this City, and to perform all

         19  those functions and operations performed by the City

         20  that relate to the health of the people of the City,

         21  including, but not limited to, the mental health,

         22  mental retardation, alcoholism and substance

         23  abuse-related needs of the people of that City.

         24                 So, I think that incorporates what my

         25  colleague is trying to say, and I too am. I just
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          2  can't believe that this has just fallen by the

          3  wayside some place.

          4                 MR. LOPEZ: You know, I don't think

          5  that the issue has been ignored. Clearly, the

          6  Commissioner is in charge of policy, the Executive

          7  Deputy Commissioner for Mental Hygiene is also in

          8  charge of policy-making. But, again, with regard to

          9  the Charter language, you have to read it in

         10  conjunction with applicable state laws. It happened

         11  that on the health side, so-to-speak, with the

         12  former jurisdiction of the Department of Health, if

         13  you look at the State public health law, there are

         14  many sections that do not apply in the City of New

         15  York in the area of communicable diseases, title of

         16  records, nuisance abatement, they specifically

         17  exempt their application in the City of New York.

         18                 That, in turn, vests the Board with

         19  additional authority in those areas. When you look

         20  at the mental hygiene law, the State mental hygiene

         21  law, there are no such exemptions. So, the ability

         22  of the Board to act in the mental hygiene area is

         23  unfortunately, or however your perspective is, much

         24  more restricted than in the health side of things.

         25                 Nevertheless, the policy issues and
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          2  how the merger is going and how the budgets have

          3  worked out, is a matter that is supposed to be

          4  reported on, but, again, by the Mayor's Office of

          5  Operations, and not Board of Health.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Does that

          7  include service delivery?

          8                 Does that include service delivery?

          9                 MR. LOPEZ: In terms of the limited

         10  area? Well, to the extent that funding, and as I

         11  understand the mental hygiene side, and let me just

         12  point out, that there is, I'm the general counsel

         13  for health, and there is a general counsel for

         14  mental hygiene within the Department, but my

         15  understanding of the operations of the Mental

         16  Hygiene Division is that it is largely, it operates

         17  through funding and contracts, and the funding

         18  largely comes through the State.

         19                 The Health side is much more of a

         20  regulatory body, a policy power body, and that's why

         21  the Health Code and the Board of Health role is so

         22  important to that particular role. But the mental

         23  hygiene largely operates in a different way, through

         24  contracts and not through rule-making.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay. I
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          2  don't think we'll belabor it, but I think we

          3  certainly raised some good issues here.

          4                 The other thing that I would like to

          5  say is basically, I mean, the one person I know is

          6  Pam Brier, and we go back a long way, probably what,

          7  late eighties when you were the CEO of Jacobi

          8  Medical Center?

          9                 MS. BRIER: We do.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So I just

         11  want to let my colleagues know that, you know,

         12  you've had a very long career in health services,

         13  many of them in public health. I think you come to

         14  us with impeccable credentials, and I'd just like to

         15  let them know that she's a good lady. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         17                 A question, Mr. Lopez. Did the

         18  Mayor's Office complete the two-year study that you

         19  alluded to?

         20                 MR. LOPEZ: I don't know what stage it

         21  is at. I know there was work on it. Again, that's

         22  not within the Health Department. I know the Health

         23  Department was involved with it, I don't know the

         24  exact answer to that question.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. If you
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          2  could let the Committee know, and if it had been

          3  completed, if we could receive a copy of it, that

          4  would be critical to us proceeding.

          5                 Council Member Clarke and then

          6  Council Member Katz, then Perkins.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

          8  much, Mr. Chair. And I want to just say that I

          9  concur with my colleague on this matter.

         10                 I wanted to just refer to the

         11  testimony of just about each and every one of you

         12  that I have read. Actually not testimony, but your

         13  responses to some of the questions. And one of the

         14  issues that, you know, there was discussion of, is

         15  the review of the health code.

         16                 Ms. Brier, in particular, you

         17  mentioned that you really look forward to working on

         18  it, and I think that that will sort of help to --

         19                 MS. BRIER: It's a good point.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: -- To give us

         21  a sense of the parameters we're dealing with here.

         22                 Can you talk about what the purpose

         23  of the review is?

         24                 MS. BRIER: Well, we actually were

         25  just briefed on that a couple of weeks ago. The
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          2  Health Code is a pretty old document. Some of it

          3  dates back decades. And while some of the points and

          4  thrusts are fundamental public health issues that

          5  unfortunately linger with us, and they are

          6  applicable, but some of the regulations in this

          7  voluminous set of codes aren't. And there is going

          8  to be, there has already been undertaken by the

          9  Department a really section-by-section review of

         10  each one of these aspects, sections, rather, of the

         11  code, with some very distinguished professors of

         12  public policy and public health from Columbia, and

         13  my understanding is that members of the Council will

         14  have the opportunity to participate in reviewing

         15  these documents and in making recommendations and I

         16  do intend to put myself in that group, and I think

         17  Mr. Lopez could probably tell you more in detail,

         18  but I think that's the general thrust.

         19                 MR. LOPEZ: I think in the briefing

         20  that we gave the Board at its last meeting, we

         21  pointed out that we are at the stage where concept

         22  papers are being delivered, prepared, and that we

         23  will be sharing those with the Board.

         24                 You know, we did, just to make the

         25  record clear, we did say that we're going to be
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          2  sharing and getting input from the Council. That is

          3  the jurisdiction of the Board and we want the

          4  Board's input.

          5                 Of course, at the time of

          6  promulgation, every single change through the Health

          7  Code would be published with an opportunity for the

          8  public to comment, including the Council, and for

          9  there to be public hearings on each and every

         10  change.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So for each of

         12  you who are seeking reappointment today, has it been

         13  explained what your role is in the Health Code

         14  review? And what is your understanding of that?

         15                 MS. BRIER: You know, as I said, I

         16  think a couple of weeks ago was really the first

         17  opportunity we had to discuss it. Actually,

         18  unfortunately not all the members of the Board of

         19  Health were there. We know that we're going to be

         20  talking about it in subsequent meetings, and there

         21  are working groups in the Department working with

         22  really experts in public health law, and I think it

         23  will become clear. This is not going to happen in

         24  six months, you know, actually, Councilwoman. So, I

         25  think the role will become clearer. There certainly
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          2  is an advisory body looking at these laws, looking

          3  at these aspects of the code rather. It should be an

          4  interesting process.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Mr. Lopez, our

          6  appointees are going to be engaged in a process of

          7  reviewing the Health Code and it seems like, at

          8  least in Ms. Brier's case, they haven't been fully

          9  briefed on what their role and responsibility in the

         10  review of the Code is?

         11                 MR. LOPEZ: No. The Board's role in

         12  promulgating and enacting the Health Code is clear,

         13  and obviously they are familiar with their role in

         14  promulgating and enacting the Health Code, and

         15  they've been engaging in that activity for the last

         16  two years.

         17                 So, there is that formal role of

         18  approving specific items for publication, an

         19  opportunity to comment, and ask questions of the

         20  Department with regard to every proposal that comes

         21  before them to change the Health Code, and then

         22  considering the comments that may have been received

         23  by the public, and then to adopt a particular

         24  proposal or not. That's the Board's formal role.

         25                 We are engaged in this systematic
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          2  review of the Health Code, as Ms. Brier indicated,

          3  because the Health Code is in some respects

          4  outdated. We want to look at what best practices may

          5  be in particular areas, and are starting to think

          6  about how changes can be put into the Health Code

          7  and we do want to engage the Board members in that

          8  process by sharing preliminary documents with them

          9  that are not yet approved for publication, but to

         10  get the Board thinking and take advantage of the

         11  Board members' expertise in particular areas.

         12                 MS. BRIER: Let me just add,

         13  Councilwoman, I did not mean to suggest that we

         14  don't understand what our basic role is. This is

         15  just very massive in scope, and as Mr. Lopez pointed

         16  out, there's our statutory role, and then there is

         17  the role that each of us has as someone interested

         18  in public health. And the idea is that we will have

         19  the opportunity informally to be part of that

         20  process in not just a tacit sort of stamp and vote

         21  for the approval, but we will have the opportunity

         22  to give our opinions and listen to what experts have

         23  to say.

         24                 I'm interested in it because I'm

         25  passionate about public health, and I think it will
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          2  be very interesting.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Just quickly,

          4  and to wrap up, Mr. Chair.

          5                 How are priorities set with respect

          6  to the actions of the Board? In other words, I know

          7  that the Health Code review is a priority, and it

          8  seems like it's going to be a pretty large task as

          9  you begin to unfold. Are there other priorities set

         10  by the Board for review as well, or are you given a

         11  specific task and then you focus on that and that's

         12  pretty much the universe in which you operate?

         13                 MS. BRIER: Well, the Department

         14  really sets priorities for what it hopes to

         15  accomplish during the course of the year, and I

         16  think this Health Commissioner has very ambitious

         17  ideas about the scope of things that he wants to

         18  tackle. Smoking was probably the first thing that he

         19  undertook.

         20                 And to the extent that what happens

         21  in the Health Department, if it causes a change in

         22  the Health Code or other things that would require

         23  our opinion, we have the opportunity over a several

         24  month period to study the issue and to act

         25  accordingly.
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          2                 In addition, as you know, this

          3  Council, you all have been very active in the area

          4  of protecting the public, which is terrific, and

          5  sometimes the timetables are not very long and it is

          6  our job to make sure, and the Health Commissioner's

          7  job to make sure that laws are obeyed. The lead

          8  poisoning -- was it the lead poisoning or was it the

          9  windows? Lead poisoning required Board members to

         10  learn a lot in a short period of time and act in a

         11  limited period of time to comply with the law. So,

         12  it is a combination of what the Department sets out.

         13                 We often get briefed on upcoming

         14  programs that the Department engages in, so that we

         15  don't just see things at the moment that our

         16  approval is required. But the Board, as such, does

         17  not set an independent agenda for itself.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         19  much, Mr. Chair.

         20                 Let me just close by saying that I

         21  think that all three of you will serve the City

         22  fine. I think that, you know, we've raised a number

         23  of questions here, and I hope that they've raised

         24  some questions for each of you, the candidates, as

         25  well as the Department about our concerns with
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          2  respect to the context in which you serve.

          3                 You know, for many of our

          4  communities, the review of the Health Code is, you

          5  know, is critical, but it's in the context of a lot

          6  of environmental factors and in other things that I

          7  think your expertise really shines a light on.

          8                 We go through the lengths, and I

          9  think the Administration does, of selecting

         10  candidates with expertise that is valuable to the

         11  citizens of the City of New York, and we hate to see

         12  you be put in a position where that expertise is not

         13  fully and wholly brought to bear on the policies and

         14  decisions that will ultimately be reviewed by you.

         15                 And, so when we talk about this

         16  preliminary process of bringing data to the table

         17  for the members of the Board, I hope that you can

         18  also bring to the table your context and

         19  understanding of what's happening on a practical,

         20  from a practical perspective.

         21                 Ms. Brier has been, of course, for

         22  the New York City community, someone who has served

         23  us extremely well. And gentlemen, I wish you all

         24  well and appreciate also your contributions. I just

         25  want to finally say that I hope that we can look at
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          2  infant mortality in this process, because I think we

          3  can get a lot from vital statistics, and there's

          4  something happening in the 21st century when babies

          5  are dying in communities when we should be way

          6  beyond that in our civilization at this stage.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          9                 While we have a quorum, before we

         10  lose the quorum -- I know Council Member Katz has a

         11  quick question, and then we'll do the vote.

         12                 Council Member Katz.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'm sorry, just

         14  very quickly in the interest of time. I don't want

         15  to take up the time of the Committee.

         16                 I was very concerned that in the

         17  answers to the questions, really only Dr. Caro

         18  mentioned day care centers as being a priority for

         19  the Department of Health. I have a child that was

         20  killed in my district in a day care center.  One

         21  hour after the Department of Health inspector left

         22  was when the call went into 9-1-1.

         23                 Just very simply yes or no, and then

         24  we can follow up at another time, I just want to

         25  know whether your Board has approached this topic at

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  all over the last few months?

          3                 DR. VLAHOV: I'll answer that. The

          4  Board has been involved with this issue. The

          5  Commissioner approached some members of the Board

          6  and has contributed to the studying and moving

          7  forward on this issue.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay. After this

          9  Committee meeting, if you can give whoever I should

         10  talk to about what the Board's involvement has been?

         11  If you can give that information to our counsel

         12  here, and I'd like to follow-up with a phone call

         13  later on. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

         15  Council Member Perkins has a question, then we'll

         16  vote.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         18  very much, Mr. Chairman. I'm going to be quick. You

         19  know, I have a host of concerns in the Health field

         20  that we've been dealing with, colon cancer through

         21  infant mortality, but I'm not going to explore all

         22  those right now. Two that I would like to have some

         23  remarks about is, number one, we are celebrating the

         24  anniversary of the passage of the most extraordinary

         25  bill protecting children from lead poisoning in this
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          2  Council and in this City as of tomorrow. So, I'm

          3  happy to have been the sponsor, and appreciate my

          4  colleagues' support in that regard.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

          6  Katz, can you just say your vote for the record.

          7                 I'm sorry.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I'd like to

          9  know your thinking with regard to that in terms of

         10  its implementation. There has been some concerns, I

         11  must admit, that because the Administration was

         12  hostile to the bill, there are some concerns in the

         13  community that it may not be as diligent and as

         14  aggressive as making sure the bill is enforced?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         16  Katz, can you just say your vote for the record, I'm

         17  sorry.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye on all

         19  candidates.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         22                 MS. BRIER: Let me just say that from

         23  the Board meetings and some of the private

         24  discussions that various of us have had with the

         25  Health Commissioner, we absolutely do not get the
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          2  sense that this is going to be done in some

          3  proforma, or less than full-fledged way.

          4                 In fact, I was really -- it was quite

          5  stunning, actually, that was really an all-out

          6  interest sort of involving everyone in the

          7  Department efforts to coordinate and come up with a

          8  plan, and they sure don't act like people who aren't

          9  serious, that's about all I can say.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         11                 Anyone else want to share some

         12  thoughts on that? Otherwise, okay, I'll go to my

         13  second question. But let me just say this: Part of

         14  my own observation about the concern that has been

         15  brought to my attention is the fact that in several

         16  community meetings, even at Gracie Mansion, by the

         17  way, either the Mayor and/or the Commissioner, have

         18  expressed recently their opposition to the

         19  legislation. And when you embrace something fully,

         20  you usually have a complimentary message that goes

         21  along with it. You don't say we're going to tackle

         22  this problem, even though we think it's stupid, or

         23  even though we think it's not good, because you're

         24  creating a contradictory message there, and you're

         25  creating a schizophrenic approach. So, either you're
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          2  with it or you're not.

          3                 And, so, if there's going to be a

          4  full-fledged embracing of the legislation and

          5  implementation of it, then say so and don't say the

          6  negative, say the positive, because the community

          7  then gets the wrong message, just number one.

          8                 Now, number two, another pet of mine

          9  happens to be rats. And we have a rat epidemic in

         10  this City. I have a rat, I have pet, another pet

         11  project of mine, Mr. Speaker, as you know, are those

         12  four-legged rats we've been trying to address in

         13  this body, and raise to the level of concern that is

         14  reflected in the streets in the communities.

         15                 You know, our people are no longer

         16  using sidewalks in certain neighborhoods because of

         17  the rat problem. They're walking in the streets. So

         18  that represents the fact that the rats have taken

         19  over. And, so, there has not been a full-fledged

         20  embracing of this concern, as I believe there should

         21  be, particularly in terms of the resources provided,

         22  and even in terms of creating a mechanism where

         23  there can be a direct focus on this problem, as

         24  opposed to it being within the bureaucracy of the

         25  Health Department and being sort of an incidental
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          2  focus.

          3                 So, I'd like to have some remarks on

          4  what you think is the way we should be going with

          5  regard to this epidemic in our communities.

          6                 DR. CARO: I think we are all aware of

          7  the pests and the rat issue in the community. I

          8  think very often I have to change my walk myself

          9  because of the rats. And we've seen, in the clinical

         10  practice we see the issue related to the rats and

         11  the children, the pregnant woman, the woman, the

         12  elderly, even rat bite I've seen several time in my

         13  community. But these are complexed issue and I am

         14  sure between with your help, the expertise of our

         15  colleague, I think we will walk in the right

         16  direction because we will help our community. We

         17  want that issue to be taken care.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Can I get a

         19  commitment that this will be a priority concern of

         20  yours? All of you?

         21                 MS. BRIER: You can certainly get a

         22  commitment that we will raise it again with the

         23  Health Commissioner.

         24                 I think all of us who confirm went

         25  through this process a year and a half ago
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          2  understand your concerns and, frankly, share your

          3  concerns. It has not come up recently in formal

          4  discussions, but each one of us will go back and we

          5  will raise the issue.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, I'm glad

          7  you did that, because I didn't want to be the one to

          8  remind you that you would be, you all would be

          9  raising the issue within the Administration.

         10                 As you may recall, Councilwoman

         11  Clarke, when this came up the last time there was a

         12  commitment that you would continue to raise this

         13  issue and I hope that this time you will fill your

         14  priority commitment.

         15                 Can we have the other candidates

         16  speak to this, please?

         17                 DR. CARO: Yes, my full commitment to

         18  the issue of the rats.

         19                 DR. VLAHOV: And I agree on the

         20  commitment.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I only heard

         22  three.

         23                 MS. BRIER: He's the counsel.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The other person

         25  is the counsel. He's not up for appointment.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I'm sorry. I

          3  think the Board of Elections ought to deal with the

          4  rats too.

          5                 MS. BRIER: Well, he's really not from

          6  the Board of Elections.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          8  very much. I appreciate your service to the City.

          9  And, Mr. Chairman, I'd like to vote aye.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         11                 Speaker Miller is here. Can you

         12  record your vote for the record, please.

         13                 SPEAKER MILLER: Aye.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, we'll just

         15  complete the vote while we have the quorum, if the

         16  clerk could call the roll.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Comrie.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on all.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye on

         21  all.

         22                 Good luck.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Aye on all.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Baez.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye on all,

          5  and we look forward to your continued service. Thank

          6  you very much.

          7                 MS. BRIER: You're welcome.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And happy

          9  holidays.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         11  Reyna had a question before you leave, I'm sorry. We

         12  did the roll call.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm sorry, I'll

         14  be quick. I just wanted to understand exactly where

         15  or at what point will or perhaps may not ever come

         16  up, as you review the Health Code, the approach

         17  you're going to be taking toward products being sold

         18  that contain lead, such as (Spanish word), which is

         19  commonly known in the Dominican community such as

         20  what we had a press conference on yesterday, which

         21  is the candy product imported from Mexico where that

         22  candy has a 76 percent lead poisoning. You know, the

         23  wrapping is an issue. Are those particular items

         24  going to be addressed as a priority within the

         25  Health Code as you review it, creating policy to
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          2  deal with the importing and exporting of goods?

          3  Because although we are celebrating a momentous

          4  moment tomorrow in the anniversary of passing a law

          5  concerning lead poisoning, we have a long way to go

          6  where we can see some effective change, especially

          7  when there are outside sources that are contributing

          8  that no one is mindful of to at least add to the

          9  aggregate of the lead poisoning. And so, it's the

         10  smaller amount everywhere that child goes that

         11  becomes the problem, but then lead to the mental

         12  retardation, mental health services, that we're

         13  already lacking in our communities.

         14                 MS. BRIER: Well, let me just speak

         15  first and my colleagues will chime in, Councilwoman.

         16                 I think this is a major problem. I'm

         17  not sure that it would really come up in the context

         18  of reviewing the health code. But I cannot help but

         19  thinking in the same way that the lead poisoning

         20  issue was raised, that there will be a public

         21  discussion about this. I'm sure you all are intent

         22  on that, and to that extent I'm sure we will all be

         23  asked to participate in a discussion and review

         24  proposals that come forward.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Councilman Oddo,
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          2  can we get your vote for the record, please?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I apologize, Mr.

          4  Chairman, but Simcha is having good questions going

          5  on in Finance on capital projects, so... I vote yes

          6  on all, thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          8                 MS. BRIER: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Caro, or Mr.

         10  Vlahov?

         11                 DR. VLAHOV: I agree that this has

         12  come to the attention of members of the Board, and

         13  that it is an issue of concern. I think it's a topic

         14  that we're going to be bringing up to discuss. Right

         15  up front I see some difficulties in issues of

         16  jurisdiction and of enforcement. And, so, you know,

         17  we want to be able to bring up issues that are

         18  relevant that we have some, you know, ability to

         19  respond to, and then also to be able to do something

         20  about it.

         21                 So, I think that's an issue that we

         22  have to study closely so we can be effective.

         23                 DR. CARO: I think that, yes, we will

         24  get involved and address those issue. Let's just not

         25  forget that we are making decisions every day with
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          2  our patients, and we know what work and what doesn't

          3  work. Then I'm sure that together with the experts

          4  in the field, together with the City, we will reach

          5  a conclusion which will be beneficial for our fellow

          6  citizens.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And just the

          8  second item. Thank you for answering that question.

          9  I just wanted to raise a very important point, and

         10  I'm not sure there's any awareness amongst your

         11  level, as well as the Department of Health.

         12                 I just became aware because my Chief

         13  of Staff whose son had been lead poisoned in her own

         14  home, and she's a home owner, the home is built in

         15  the 19th century, and obviously it was going to have

         16  the lead poisoning factor just from that predated,

         17  pre war date, she was proactive, unlike other

         18  mothers, in requesting a lead poisoning test. And if

         19  it hadn't been for that, the doctor would have never

         20  tested. Therefore, I just became aware that every

         21  child is mandated to be tested from the ages of zero

         22  to two. How are we raising awareness, especially in

         23  those communities where lead level, high levels of

         24  lead content is visible? And how is your mechanism

         25  of policy changing or policy affecting the
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          2  Department of Health in prioritizing that every

          3  doctor, every health provider out there, has to

          4  abide by the law of testing every child zero to two?

          5  Because I can only imagine that could only help DOH

          6  do its job even better so than in the past. And now

          7  they're moving into screening, so they have

          8  mammography screening, they have prostate screening,

          9  they have colon screening, they have every type of

         10  screening. I want to see lead poison screening

         11  specifically for a targeted age where the law

         12  requires it zero to two and health care providers

         13  being more responsible in doing their job and

         14  reporting when there is lead poisoning to the

         15  Department of Health.

         16                 DR. CARO: We as physician are

         17  supposed to report as soon as we see encounter

         18  symptoms and possible lead poison.

         19                 And colon cancer, despite the history

         20  of the patient, it is my responsibility as a

         21  physician to move in that direction. Unfortunately,

         22  that professional medical doctor move because the

         23  mother insist, but unfortunately in real life we

         24  encounter that. But I think we would follow the --

         25  what it will be practical and realistic in pursuing
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          2  that, those factors.

          3                 MS. BRIER: I want to get back,

          4  Councilwoman, to the point that Dr. Vlahov raised

          5  before. The challenge, frankly, for the Health

          6  Commissioner and for us in thinking this through, is

          7  there are really a fair number of very pressing

          8  health care issues, and only so much energy, so many

          9  hours in the day, and so many staff to do it, and

         10  it's hard to say which is more important, and which

         11  is less important.

         12                 I, frankly, encounter the same thing

         13  in running a hospital. There is no end to issues

         14  that we want to change people's behavior, change

         15  their action on, and the challenge is to figure out

         16  ways to do things to protect the public that allow

         17  enough time to do the other thing that protect the

         18  public.

         19                 You all are very effective in raising

         20  your voices and articulating problems and in

         21  soliciting experts, and as I said, the challenge of

         22  the Health Commissioner, even with respect to the

         23  lead paint law, is to figure out how to do this and

         24  to still have time for the ten managing or promoting

         25  the ten things that make people healthy.
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          2                 So, it's always going to be, it's

          3  going to be a life's work, you know, to keep raising

          4  issues and figuring out how to resolve them. I don't

          5  disagree with you.

          6                 DR. VLAHOV: My brother had lead

          7  poisoning when we were both children, so for me it's

          8  an area of special concern. And as a Board of Health

          9  member, my understanding is that we looked at the

         10  code and make a situation where the testing can be

         11  mandated.

         12                 Personally, as Board members, our

         13  ability ourselves to enforce is, you know, limited

         14  because that then becomes a Health Department

         15  action, and so to raise the issue is certain

         16  programmatic. And, again, as Pamela just brought up,

         17  it's also getting it into the mix of issues that are

         18  out there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I just want to

         20  point out, it's my understanding that doctors get

         21  trained all the time, and, so, within that training,

         22  stressing to especially those doctors that come into

         23  contact with children, more specific, the ages of

         24  zero to two, to follow the law that exists, to

         25  reinforce. You only learn things through learned

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  behavior, so if it's coming from the top, it will

          3  trickle down to the service.

          4                 And, so, I stress this to you,

          5  because it's an apparent loophole that we need to

          6  close in order to get to the bottom of seeing

          7  results. And, frankly, immunization came about

          8  because there was outbreaks of diseases. We found

          9  ways to get to the point where now we immunize all

         10  children, or at least a hundred percent, try to get

         11  to that hundred percent, and there's a reporting

         12  mechanism attached to it. Why not include a lead

         13  poisoning. We're talking about children that are

         14  going to be saved and have an opportunity later on

         15  in life, perhaps their IQ won't be lesser than

         16  others, and especially with new immigrant waves

         17  coming in where they're not familiar with what

         18  should and should not be health conditions affecting

         19  their child, as they associate themselves and get to

         20  assimilate in this country.

         21                 Yes, Mr. Lopez.

         22                 MR. LOPEZ: Yes, if I could just make

         23  a few points. One, that is a requirement in the

         24  State law that children be tested by doctors at

         25  certain ages.
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          2                 However, as I pointed out before, we

          3  do not regulate the practice of medicine. However,

          4  all those lead test results are reportable to the

          5  State Health Department, we get access to those

          6  reports.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Only if they've

          8  been reported, and in order to report them, an exam

          9  has to be performed.

         10                 MR. LOPEZ: I know. Right. Absolutely.

         11  Once the test is done, the laboratories are required

         12  to report to the State.

         13                 We access that information. And of

         14  course, under the Health Code, lead poisoning is

         15  reportable directly to the Health Department. But in

         16  terms of education, the Department has a publication

         17  that it puts out called "City Health Information."

         18  It's a publication that goes out periodically to

         19  every doctor in the City, it's something like

         20  23,000, I believe, and there have been numerous

         21  occasions where we talked about lead in those

         22  publications and have pointed out this State mandate

         23  that doctors are required to comply with.

         24                 So, I do think that we do make an

         25  extensive effort at educating the provider community
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          2  about their own obligations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Well, I

          4  appreciate your candor, and I just wanted to

          5  congratulate all three of you, and more specific, a

          6  friend, Dr. Caro, not to lessen my congratulatories,

          7  but he's a phenomenal doctor who services my

          8  community in the heart of where I grew up and was

          9  raised. So, I wanted to just extend my thank yous

         10  and continue your good work in the City of New York.

         11                 We're just going to go up on the

         12  record with your answers to these questions. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sorry, just

         15  three, or four matters for each candidate. Dr.

         16  Vlahov, we need you to just verify with the AIU

         17  office that you're going to review your employment

         18  with the Commissioner of the Department of Health

         19  and Mental Hygiene for whatever conflict that may

         20  arise, and you can notify the Investigations Unit

         21  here regarding that matter.

         22                 DR. VLAHOV: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Dr. Caro, there

         24  is an issue of clearing up 18 remaining HPD

         25  violations at 248 Rovling Street (phonetic) permit.
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          2  You'll furnish the Council -- excuse me -- and you

          3  will furnish the Council with any documentation once

          4  you show that the remaining violations have been

          5  resolved, and resolving an open water billing matter

          6  for 423 17th Street, and showing the Council, the

          7  AIU Unit, the documentation that the issues have

          8  been resolved, and that the Spanish-American Dental

          9  Society of New York, if they have interaction with

         10  the Board of Health that you follow the guidelines

         11  previously provided regarding those conflicts of

         12  interest matters, and you say yes to resolving all

         13  of the above?

         14                 DR. CARO: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         16                 And Ms. Brier, you have to again get

         17  a Mayoral waiver to permit your simultaneous service

         18  on DOH and the Workforce Investment Board, and

         19  you'll send to our office, the AIU Unit, a copy of

         20  the waiver. And you'll rereview your employment

         21  involvement with the City a not-for-profit clause

         22  with the Commissioner of the Department of Health

         23  and Mental Hygiene.

         24                 MS. BRIER: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: If you could say
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          2  yes to --

          3                 MS. BRIER: Right, I will do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you very

          5  much. Thank you all for serving. Sorry to keep you

          6  so late.

          7                 Council Member Lou Fidler wanted to

          8  take 20 minutes, but he's too late. Council Member

          9  Fidler, your vote on both items?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         12                 We'll hold the roll open for the one

         13  or two people who are not here. I want to thank all

         14  the candidates for coming, and thank the

         15  Investigations Unit for their great work for the

         16  entire year. I also want to thank our counsel, Ed,

         17  for his excellent work for everything that we've

         18  done in the Committee for this year. Thank you, Ed.

         19  Thank you. And with that I will call the meeting

         20  part closed, and we'll hold the vote open for those

         21  members that haven't come in to vote yet.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 12:50 p.m.)

         23
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